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Prologue


I’ll put a girdle round about the Earth


In forty minutes . . .


—Puck, A Midsummer Night’s Dream


Imagine that you have purchased, to accompany this book, a model of a theater in which you can stage your very own around-the-world voyage. The whole setup will require special delivery because, for some reason, the theater, which is round, turns out to be about 8.25 meters in circumference (just under 9 feet across). That is only the first of several Alice-in-Wonderland surprises, as you discover when you enter the theater, which seems empty. Luckily, there is an envelope pinned to the theater door which contains a map, with “X” marking the spot where you can find the most important piece of scenery, the small ship that will make a staged circumnavigation. Once you locate the X, you must remove a magnifying glass (helpfully provided in the envelope) to see the ship. It is the size of the head of a pin and scattered with what look like bits of dust. Nearby is a microscope, and only with its assistance can you make out that the dust particles are actually tiny dolls that represent the ship’s sailors.


The theater kit has these odd components and dimensions because, correctly proportioned to each other, the theater is the Earth, the pinhead ship is the Victoria, the first ship to go around the world, and the near-invisible dolls within her represent sailors, the angels that dance on the head of this particular pin. Given the high mortality rates during most of the history of around-the-world travel, sailors were indeed angels in the making. Their tininess, and that of their ship, make a circumnavigation of the enormous globe seem impossible. And yet it happened, over and over, hundreds of thousands of times, and even more circumnavigations are taking place right now, as you read.


With those repeated embraces of the globe, from 1519 onward, human beings have established what is now a nearly five-hundred-year history of going around the world. It is the longest tradition of a human activity done on a planetary scale. Around-the-world travelers make a grand gesture, as big as the physical world itself, even though they are individually so small that the huge global stage on which they act makes them hard to find.


•   •   •


I found this book in the middle of the Atlantic Ocean. Six years ago, in St. George’s, Bermuda, I embarked on a 140-foot sailing ship, the Sea Education Association’s SSV Corwith Cramer. I would be at sea for three weeks, away from telephone, Internet, and physical libraries. Yet I was in the middle of a research project on Benjamin Franklin that required me to read material in French. I decided to use my time at sea to revive my French by reading a novel in that language. The book I chose was a small paperback edition of Jules Verne’s Le Tour du monde en quatre-vingts jours, or Around the World in Eighty Days, first published as a newspaper serial in 1872. When I wasn’t on watch or otherwise busy, I slowly made my way through the book.


My French was good enough—to my surprise—that I actually enjoyed the story and, as a historian, I appreciated its period detail, especially the nature of the bet that sends Verne’s protagonist, the Englishman Phileas Fogg, racing around the world. At his London club, Fogg remarks that scheduled travel services could take a person around the globe in a period of eighty days. Prove it, the club men challenge him, and he’s off. That eighty-day measure was only conceivable by the late nineteenth century. In the age of sail, getting around the world had taken months or years. (The speed of my sailing ship would have lost Fogg his wager.) It was the invention of steampower, but also the creation of regimented European empires around the globe, the opening of the Suez Canal, and the emergence of commercial travel services that together made it just possible, by the 1870s, to do the global circuit in eighty days.


The second thing that impressed me about Verne’s story was how the material developments that sped up global travel required a dramatically increased use of natural resources. When Fogg leaves London, he takes his new valet (and invaluable comic foil) Passepartout. The two men board a night train which has scarcely departed London when Passepartout lets out “a real cry of despair”:


“. . . in the rush . . . my state of confusion . . . I forgot . . . to switch off the gas lamp in my bedroom.”


“Well, my dear fellow,” Phileas Fogg replied coldly, “you’ll be paying the bill.” The gas lamp is the novel’s running joke. True, it is a small part of the journey’s cost, but we present-day readers of Verne quickly realize that the joke is on us. We are, notoriously, the first generation that has realized what the planetary bill for centuries of burning fossil fuel is going to be.1


In Verne’s era, coal was a costly but essential part of modern progress. Yet Fogg’s steam-powered exploits, set at the height of European imperialism, represent a phase of the past that truly is history, over and done with. Airplanes have replaced the coal-burning engines and ships that hurtled Fogg around the world; the empires that protected some people at the expense of others have been replaced with other political regimes. It’s now difficult to cross the surface of the world in eighty days, though easy to fly around it in hours, if you can afford the 
ticket.


Back on land, I looked for a history of around-the-world travel. There was none. Two books have given narrative histories of circumnavigations, but only in the age of sail; a third book examines some nineteenth-century examples, among other long-distance voyages; a fourth looks at small-boat circumnavigations in the early twentieth century. That’s not much. For that reason, there is no separate Library of Congress heading for histories of around-the-world travel—the histories are simply lumped with first-person accounts of the travelers. There are many more studies of individual around-the-world travels, especially the really famous attempts by Magellan, Cook, Earhart, Gagarin, Chichester, and others. There are analyses of fictional circumnavigators, including Fogg, and even Shakespeare’s Puck. And there is Raymond John Howgego’s incomparable Encyclopedia of Exploration, which includes historical circumnavigations among its thousands of entries. Finally, there are other encyclopedias that chronicle circumnavigations or orbital travels or, especially in electronic form, just list the journeys themselves.2


All of these works take for granted that an around-the-world voyage represents a distinct human activity, something unlike other voyages or expeditions. But none of them explains why they are distinctive. Why do they matter?


The answer is not obvious. To find out what is different about around-the-world voyages requires setting aside everything they might have in common with other kinds of travel and exploration. Circumnavigators made geographic discoveries; but so did other explorers. They changed the world map, but other expeditions did too. They encountered lands and people new to them; so did many others. They expanded and defended empires—many actors did. Even if circumnavigators did more of these activities—more geographic discoveries, more cultural encounters—that is a difference in quantity, not quality.


The temptation is to find an encyclopedic solution, to inventory every around-the-world journey that took place, with details of what happened on each. But a work that simply listed all of these journeys, let alone details of what happened on them, would take a great many volumes, or a vast electronic database, yet still not establish why they are special.


They are special because any voyager who goes all the way around the world thinks of himself or herself on a planetary scale, as an actor on a stage the size of the world. This is unique. No other form of travel, and, really, hardly any other human experience, is truly planet-encompassing. In fact, an around-the-world voyage is distinctively planetary in three ways, as measured by time, space, and death.


Around-the-world travel is time travel. Verne’s Around the World in Eighty Days has as its plot twist Fogg’s eastward progress around the globe, through which he gains a day that wins him his bet. Because of what is now called the International Date Line, the day gained or lost during an around-the-world voyage is a fundamental and unique characteristic of such a journey. Any traveler changes his or her place on the globe, but only circumnavigators change their date on the calendar. That experience reorients them in relation to the Sun, timekeeper of the hours and days on Earth and throughout the solar system. Circumnavigators were the first people to discover, by mind-blowing experience, that time is not universal but relative.


The space over which a circumnavigator must travel is also distinctive because it represents the whole world, which is painfully larger than any of the individual humans who might contemplate getting around it. Shakespeare’s Puck may have been able to zip round about the Earth with ease, but humans had to go more slowly, and they would always need a protected space around their small selves, whether physical, imagined, or both.


It is conventional in many cultures to consider the human body as a microcosm, a smaller, metaphorical version of the world or cosmos. So too have ships been considered microcosms, little wooden worlds that ride the waves. To put a body around the world on a ship (or in another vehicle) puts these three worlds into a dynamic relationship to each other. The mismatch in size makes the encounter both comic and cosmic, as with the ill-matched theater kit that represents world, ship, and sailors in proportion to each other, with the sailors reduced to specks of dust.


Because of the size of the planet, and the inadequacy of early sailing ships to cover global distances while protecting those within them, sailors quickly learned that a circumnavigation meant death. For the first 250 years, more people died than survived circumnavigations. The planet simply shrugged them off. Many forms of travel and exploration were badly dangerous, but around-the-world travel was the most consistently bad. Only by the end of the eighteenth century did circumnavigations begin to have lower mortality rates, even as their breathtaking risks have lingered as part of their mystique.


And yet mere mortals did manage to get their tiny bodies around the vast planet in vessels that, even if bigger than the Victoria, were (and are) strikingly small. To commemorate their achievement, the survivors established traditions for their experience. It did not happen at once—the first around-the-world voyage was too surprising, and only repeated successes teased out internationally observed conventions about what such journeys meant. Circumnavigators were represented in certain kinds of portraits, they were granted characteristic coats of arms, and their journeys were represented on maps and globes in particular ways.


Above all, the stories they told about their voyages fell into certain patterns, especially by stressing the elements of time travel, planetary distance, and frequent fatalities. Circumnavigators knew they were generating a tradition. They read each others’ accounts as models for their own voyages and narratives: William Dampier read Sir Francis Drake; George Anson read Dampier; Louis-Antoine de Bougainville read Anson; Adam Johann von Krusenstern read Bougainville; Charles Darwin read Krusenstern—and so on, even to the present day, when around-the-world sailors still read Joshua Slocum (who read Darwin). Even people who would eventually go around the world by other means—steamships, railroads, bicycles, airplanes, spaceships—would refer back to the longer maritime tradition on which they thought they were building.


As a result, circumnavigators have generated nearly half a millennium’s worth of evidence of humanity’s direct, tangible, and conscious connection to something usually perceived in the abstract, the whole Earth. Of course, humans have had a relationship to the planet for as long as they have existed. And yet consciousness of that relationship is thought to be rather recent. Most people in the past are not supposed to have been aware of themselves on a planetary scale, except metaphorically. They are otherwise supposed to have thought small, to have been tucked into cosy patches of a larger landscape, unable even to give consistent labels to continents and oceans, and incapable of conceiving of their actions in relation to the natural world on a long time scale. It was allegedly only by the nineteenth century that mastery of the oceans and penetration into continents gave western Europeans the world’s first version of a planetary consciousness, augmented by developments in science and geography, and complete with an understanding of enormous spaces and the swift yet long passage of geological time. And it was only supposedly with the famous Apollo 8 photographs of the Earth, taken in 1968, that humans first truly grasped their place on the Earth as a whole.3


Today, we are hyper-aware of our connection to the planet, given our ongoing environmental crisis, most of which can be attributed to human actions in generating matter that overheats the atmosphere, or clogs land, air, and water. We use our planetary consciousness both to praise and criticize ourselves, to emphasize our greater scientific wisdom about the Earth, for example, but also to stress our unprecented transformation of it. Plus there is our sense of globalization. Surely we must have a greater awareness of the planet, given the globalized culture in which we live, the global connections we know we now have with people all over the world?


But it may just be the case that no one has looked hard enough to find a longer history of planetary consciousness. Globalization has hogged all the attention. Global is social—it implies the social relations that extend over the globe. In contrast, planetary is physical, implying the physical planet itself. Far more studies have focused on the former than the latter. That is because human-to-human interactions have been historians’ major focus. Only recently have human relations with the non-human parts of nature been put into dialogue with those human relationships; only recently have scholars begun to reread historical documents to discover our past sense of our place within nature. Circumnavigators’ long and self-aware tradition of engagement with the planet questions our sense of uniqueness and may teach us something worth knowing about why we think of the Earth the way we do.4


Toward that end, this book defines around-the-world travel as a geodrama, from the Greek for “Earth” (Ge or Gaia) and for “action” (drama). Within the European countries that sponsored the first circumnavigations, there was an established tradition of considering the world as a theater: theatrum mundi. It was an ancient Greek idea, sustained through Roman antiquity and the Renaissance, and exemplified in Shakespeare’s claim that “all the world’s a stage.” The theatrum mundi was a metaphor, but around-the-world travelers made it a reality by presenting themselves as actors on a stage of planetary dimensions. Over time, circumnavigations would be presented as dramatic entertainments, first in print, then on stage, and later in film.


Geodrama is different from geography, meaning depictions of the Earth made by writing (graphos). While geography engages the human eye, hand, and mind, geodrama requires all of a human being, the entire body and its range of physical experiences, in relation to Gaia, the Earth. That whole-body experience of the whole Earth is well documented in accounts of circumnavigation, which describe what it felt like, from agonizing to exhilarating. Most people never go around the world but, by now, almost everyone has some idea of the big statement that such a journey makes.


For that reason, published, first-person accounts of circumnavigators are this book’s principal sources. Again, the point is not to include every available account, as in an encyclopedia, but to examine some of the most visible in order to show how to read any one of the others. And, frankly, the more famous and influential the account the better. The famous narratives disseminated a sense of what it was like to go around the world, even for people who would never make the journey themselves. Together, the accounts constitute the longest and most sustained way in which people have been able to consider themselves as actors within a geodrama, even as the drama has changed over time.


The changes can be understood as three acts in the drama, three phases in human beings’ comprehension of themselves as actors on the physical planet. In the first act, which lasted from Magellan’s departure on the first circumnavigation to James Cook’s death in Hawai’i—that is, from 1519 to 1779—mariners who went around the world did so in fear. It was reasonable for them to be fearful, given the dangers of such a voyage in the age of sail. In this initial phase, the longest in the history of circumnavigation, death prevailed. Humans might take on the planet, but the planet fought them every inch of the way.


From the 1780s until the 1920s, however, travelers who made their way around the world did so with a striking confidence that they could survive the experience. That was because Western societies had generated technology and political networks that seemed to have conquered the globe. It was not only possible to go around the world, but it had become a popular pastime. Representations of doing a circumnavigation became playful, enticing, joyous. There were costs, not all of them hidden, but they seemed outweighed by the glories of making an easy swing around the planet. One result of the new optimism was the generation of a new meaning for “around the world”: to blanket the Earth, rather than simply girdle it, even though confidence about the blanketing depended on prior success with the girdling.


Over the twentieth century, and now into the twenty-first, the confidence has given way to doubt. Technologically newer forms of travel, especially airplanes and rocket-propelled space capsules, revived the sense of extreme danger that had faded during the relatively safer nineteenth century. Equally, it is now clear that imperialism had smoothed the way for most earlier circumnavigators, under political and social conditions that would be unwise and unjust to perpetuate, let alone recreate. Above all, there is a growing sense that the planet is again beginning to bite back, now that the environmental costs of planetary domination have begun to haunt us.


We live with all three legacies of around-the-world travel: a re-emerging fear that the planet could simply shrug us off; continuing confidence that we might be able to generate technologies and political alliances to dominate the planet; but doubt that it is always wise to do so. It is especially apparent that the characteristic confidence of the long nineteenth century was the shortest of planetary experiences, yet has been the most difficult to relinquish. Our current doubts seem to be taking us back to the fears of the early modern period, a circular return that matches the swings around the planet that themselves went through the three acts of geodrama.


But there were always more hopeful elements to the story. Those bright moments matter too, and they make clear that the human past is as complicated and contradictory as its present condition, whether seen on a small scale or a large one, even the largest of all, a geodrama in three acts.




Act One


Fear
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Chapter 1


Magellan agonistes


Many ancient legends feature bold voyagers: Ka-ulu in the Pacific, Odysseus in the Mediterranean, Sinbad in the Seven Seas, Sun Wukong in China and Japan. And several early travelers undertook voyages that became legendary, including the Italian Marco Polo and the Arab Ibn Battuta. But only one person before 1519 was said to have tried to go around a spherical world. It’s just as well he’s a mythical character, given what happened.1


In Greek legend, the gods cannot resist human females and one result is Phaeton, son of Helios, the Sun, and a mortal woman. When he is grown, Phaeton visits his father, who sits in state, surrounded by the intervals of time—“Day, Month, Year . . . and the Hours”—that he alone determines. Phaeton asks to guide Helios’ solar chariot around the world for a day. He gets his wish, but cannot control the chariot’s horses. They pull the burning car far off course, over the icy poles and close to the Earth. Forests ignite, populations perish, dormant Arctic monsters thaw and shudder into life. When Gaia begins to crack open from the heat, she begs Zeus, king of the gods, to stop Phaeton. Zeus flings a thunderbolt and knocks the youth from the chariot. Hair afire, Phaeton screams like a meteor into the Eridanus River and drowns. Nymphs bury him beneath a stone engraved: “Here Phaethon lies: his father’s car he tried—/Though proved too weak, he greatly daring died.”2


The dramatic story made good reading and retelling through the Middle Ages and into the Renaissance, especially the version in Ovid’s Metamorphoses. To warn all mortals that the lesson applies to them, Ovid twice compares the Sun’s chariot to a ship riding the waves. Death awaits anyone who dares to imitate the celestial bodies that circle the Earth, which was presumed to be the center of the universe.


Little wonder that the first around-the-world voyage was unintended—and deadly. Fernão de Magalhães e Sousa, better known as Ferdinand Magellan, is famous for something he never did. Ask anyone, “Who was the first person to go around the world?” and they will probably say, “Ferdinand Magellan,” though he never did, and never meant to. His agonizing and unplanned circumnavigation killed him and most of his men. He made going around the world seem possible, although extremely difficult, and therefore heroic. Ironically, he died while trying to reach the lands of the wondrous spices that Europeans assumed would bless them with health and long life.


•   •   •


Cloves, nutmeg, mace, cinnamon, ginger, cardamom: in Magellan’s day, a well-stocked European kitchen smelled like Christmas all year round. Disregard the old slurs about medieval cookery. Europeans did not eat spices to mask the flavor of rotting meat—they ate spices because they adored them. They consumed all the spices now associated with holiday fare, plus many others. Medieval and early modern recipes recommended spicing everything, from fish pies to love potions. The amounts were stupendous; one cook specified several hundred pounds of spices for a grand banquet. Today, gingerbread and nutmeg-dusted eggnog faintly hint at the early modern palate, as do deviled ham, mulled wine, and steak sauce tangy with cloves. Clearly, it was an acquired taste. But acquired from where?3


Europeans thought that spices tasted of paradise. It was no restaurant reviewer’s metaphor. Paradise meant just that, the Eden from which humanity had been expelled. That primordial event always influenced Europeans’ view of themselves and of the physical world around them, a world that they saw as both a real, everyday place and a mystical entity embedded with cosmic truths.


To interpret the world, they combined Christian beliefs with Greek philosophy. Like us, they assumed the world was a globe—the idea that they thought the Earth was flat is a myth invented in the eighteenth century. Their major difference from us was their belief in a geocentric cosmos, with an unmoving Earth at the center of all other heavenly bodies. Whereas the stars and planets were perfect and eternal, revolving in crystalline spheres around the Earth, the globe at the center was imperfect. Its four basic elements—earth, air, fire, and water—were in constant flux and decay. Only Eden escaped decay, and by leaving it, Adam and Eve had forfeited immortality. Their progeny were destined to sicken and die because their bodies were microcosms of the imperfect world, composed of its base elements.4


Humans differed from each other because of the globe’s own physical differences. Ancient geographers had laid a grid over the spherical globe, to divide it into north-south degrees of latitude and east-west degrees of longitude. The lines dividing the world from east to west lack any natural foundation, in contrast to latitudes, which are natural divisions—the Sun gives north-south latitudes their differing temperatures, with the hottest on the equator. Those perceived differences guided European assumptions about their physical bodies. They thought each body had deep connections to its native climate and suffered if removed from it. Temperate climates produced normal humans (especially Europeans). They assumed that places with extreme climates had monstrous races, with the heads of dogs or no heads whatsoever, but might also produce wondrous things, such as the gold and gems found in hot places.5


The most wonderful place was paradise itself, source of the spices that prolonged life. An illustration made around 1490 shows a man and woman fishing spices from a river presumed to flow from paradise. Medieval cosmographers positioned Eden to the east of the Holy Land, where it was guarded by the fiery angels who had presided over Adam and Eve’s expulsion. More recently, paradise was blocked by infidels. Islamic merchants brought spices and other exotic goods into Europe via the Indian Ocean and Red Sea or else over the Silk Road. Only a handful of European merchants, mostly Italians, had the contacts with Muslim traders necessary to get spices. The tiny trade commanded high prices. In the early 1400s, merchants in Venice sold cloves at a 72 percent markup and nutmegs at 400 percent.6


Circumventing those Italian and Muslim traders was the main goal for the major European voyages of exploration, including Magellan’s. But the late medieval map of the world, derived from the Greek philosopher Ptolemy, did not offer obvious alternate routes to Asia. That map (see illustration 1) presents an Ecumene (from the Greek oikoumene), the inhabited or known world. Its center is the Mediterranean, surrounded by Europe and Asia, plus the upper part of Africa, a real world in which actual travel took place—where Polo and Battuta had done their respective travels.


To go beyond the Ecumene would be a severe test of seamanship. Navigation was called the “haven-finding art” because its whole point was to find land early and often. We think of the globe as a series of landmasses surrounded by water. But except in Polynesia and East Asia, mariners assumed seas were landlocked, as with the Mediterranean and the known parts of the Indian Ocean. European sailors relied on portolan charts that were surveys of coastline, not charts of open water. Beyond the Ecumene, a great Ocean Sea flowed freely, but sailors hesitated to enter it. They hugged the coastline, reluctant to meet the monsters and whirlpools said to lurk beyond.


To navigate was to interpret a local ocean, using the Earth and sky. Sailors read patterns of wind and water to determine their proximity either to deep sea or impending shoreline. They learned to memorize the appearance of land formations along coastlines. Some of them could make celestial readings, using the stars to measure the Earth’s surface and therefore distances between places, as if the heavens were a coded map, reflecting and reflected in the seas below.7


In this way, each ocean had a pool of human knowledge about it. Few of these pools ran into each other. The Polynesians who mastered the Pacific did not travel beyond it. People in Asia knew a lot about the Indian Ocean but did not share their wisdom with others. Even at the height of Asian expansion, knowledge of the seas only went so far. When the Chinese explorer Zheng He sailed the boundaries of the Indian Ocean from 1405 to 1433, even to the southern tip of Africa, he turned back; the Chinese were content with the seas and trade they already controlled. Nor did the Norse and English mariners who found their way into the North Atlantic and North America at the end of the Middle Ages publicize their discoveries.


Yet some Europeans began to wonder whether two routes through the Ocean Sea could get them to Asia. Maybe somebody could sail down south past Africa’s west coast to see whether there was a way into the Indian Ocean. Or somebody might sail west from Europe to Asia. Either route raised theoretical questions about the Earth. Was the globe mostly land, or equally balanced between land and water? Were seas truly landlocked, or did the Ocean Sea connect them? Were land and water distributed equally over the globe, with the Ecumene balanced by a vast southern continent?


And then the biggest question of all: how big was the world? The ancient mathematician Erathosthenes had, circa 240 BCE, calculated the globe’s circumference at 252,000 stadia, between 39,690 and 46,620 kilometers. (It is now estimated at 40,008 kilometers.) But that calculation had been lost and subsequent ones disagreed with each other. Longitude divides the Earth into 360 degrees of meridian, for example, but medieval estimates of a degree along the equator ranged from 152/3 to 171/2 leagues, or 54 to 60 miles. The true size is about 69 miles. The medieval preference for flat maps over globes did not indicate belief in a flat world—it was a strategy that avoided having to give global particulars. (Celestial globes were common, in contrast.) Even rolled into a cylinder to resemble a globe, a world map did not estimate the size of the world or indicate its nature outside the Ecumene.8


Many a character in a fairy tale is warned, “Be bold, be bold, but not too bold.” According to that classification, Bartolomeu Dias was bold, Christopher Columbus and Vasco da Gama were too, and Ferdinand Magellan was perhaps too bold. They all sailed toward the back of the rolled-up world map, but Magellan sailed through it; they all had to negotiate with populations unknown to Europeans, though Magellan most dangerously; they all underestimated the size of the world, but Magellan disastrously.


It was no accident that these four explorers worked for Spain or Portugal. Living together on the Iberian Peninsula, envious of the Italians whose own peninsula thrust a triumphant boot into the richly interconnected Mediterranean, the Spanish and Portuguese were like cousins who squabbled over a meager patrimony. That bleak treasure was their access to the Atlantic, a very unpromising part of the Ocean Sea, but an entryway, at least, to the outer world. To reach the spiceladen Indies, the Portuguese headed east and the Spanish west, though their point of intersection on the opposite side of the globe would be productively contentious.


Dias was the first to demonstrate an eastbound alternate route to Asia, though he stopped short of going there himself. His discovery extended Portugal’s claims to Africa on its northern and western coasts, as well as the islands of Madeira and the Azores. In each place, the Portuguese were quick to use force, often against Muslim populations. In that spirit, Dias continued down Africa, then just around its southern tip. He was bold, though for the most part he followed the coastline, the preferred method of navigation. He returned in 1488 with portolan knowledge about the African coast and about a part of the Ocean Sea where a mariner no longer followed land south but could turn eastward into open water.9


The Italian mariner Christopher Columbus tried the other way to the spices, westward across the Ocean Sea. To demonstrate that route’s feasibility, Columbus used a recent projection of the Earth’s surface that calculated its circumference at 19,000 miles (it is actually 24,900) and therefore the distance from the Canary Islands to Japan at 2,400 nautical miles (in truth, 10,600). He also argued that Asia projected far to the east, putting the Ocean Sea on the small side. The monarchs of Aragon and Castile agreed to bankroll him. Off he went in 1492, making the first of four voyages to “another world,” as he called it, insisting that the Caribbean islands and South American mainland must be parts of Asia, and close to paradise. Pausing at the mouth of Venezuela’s Orinoco River, Columbus piously retreated, believing it was one of Eden’s mystic rivers.10


The monarchs of Castile and Aragon were famous for their piety too, but they preferred to think of Columbus’s discoveries as real places that happened to be unclaimed by the Portuguese. In 1493, Pope Alexander VI (an obliging Spaniard) issued a declaration or bull that drew a raya or line, pole to pole, 100 leagues west and south of the Azores, and granted to Spain all lands beyond the line.


Most straight lines drawn over the world are products of the human imagination, and this was no exception. The raya resembled a line of longitude, which lacked the naturalness of the latitudes that paralleled the equator. Nor was it clear whether the raya (drawn on a flat map) should run through the poles and continue down the back of the globe. And if Pope Alexander had simply wanted to keep the peace between Spain and Portugal, he failed. João II of Portugal protested that the papal bull failed to mention him. Spain and Portugal subsequently negotiated a treaty at Tordesillas in 1494 that drew a new pole-to-pole line slightly further west to guarantee that Portugal would get part of the coast Columbus had found (eventually Brazil) and retain its outposts in the Azores and Africa. This line designated spheres of interest in the Atlantic, not over the whole globe.11


Yet the Portuguese worried that Spain might in future be able to claim what could turn out to be part of Asia. They wanted a counterclaim based on trade routes that approached the lands of the spices from the other direction. At this point, most Europeans accepted that these lands were actual places, exotic ones, but not paradise. The new generation of explorers questioned the existence of monstrous races, for example, though they continued to associate heat with monstrous wealth, and worried that Europeans who went to such places risked ill-health if not death.


The oldest surviving world globe, made in Nuremberg by Martin Behaim in 1492, reinforced the new view that spices came from faraway places, not paradise. Behaim had lived in Portugal as royal cartographer and knew about the latest Portuguese discoveries around Africa. Those details embellish the map which he fit around a globe or Erdapfel (earth-apple). Columbus would not return until 1493, so Behaim supplied the ocean between Asia and Europe with a pre-Columbian wealth of islands, from Japan to the Canaries, or so-called Fortunate Isles. He then added notes. Spices came from particular Asian islands, he wrote, and were expensive because of the distance they traveled to Europe. They passed through twelve transaction zones, each with its own merchants and customs officials who added a markup—“No wonder spices for us cost their weight in gold.”12


With their chain of outposts along Africa, the Portuguese were uniquely positioned to avoid the costly markups. Following the line that Dias had traced along Africa, Vasco da Gama headed to India in 1497. Once he ran out of usable coastline, at Malindi in present-day Kenya, he had to venture out into the Indian Ocean, as little known to Europeans as the open Atlantic had been to Columbus. But da Gama had something Columbus had lacked: a local navigator. He hired a pilot in Malindi and that unnamed man guided him to Calicut.13


The separate pools of knowledge about different oceans had begun to run together, though almost always under circumstances intended to expand the boundaries of European empires, whether for settlement or for trade. We may well wonder what da Gama’s pilot thought he was doing. Portuguese “trade” often resembled piracy—maritime people around the Indian Ocean regarded the newcomers with suspicion.


And, as da Gama would discover, learning a mere route from someone was inadequate without that someone’s accumulated experience with winds, reefs, and currents. Somehow, da Gama never heard that sailing against the Indian Ocean’s prevailing monsoons was foolish (maybe a gift of silence from his contacts), or perhaps he ignored any warning. Although monsoon winds had whisked him to India in a brisk 23 days, the recrossing back to Malindi against the wind took 123. Without adequate provisions and water, he lost over half of his 170 men, many of them to sea scurvy, fully described for the first time during his voyage. Only two of the four Portuguese ships returned in 1499.14


Two parts of the Ocean Sea, the Atlantic and Indian oceans, were now connected. The Portuguese established a trading empire that outperformed the older Muslim-Italian circuits. On his second voyage to India (1502–03), da Gama hauled back 1,700 tons of spices, roughly the amount Venetian traders slowly accumulated from their Arab contacts over an average year. He sold them at an estimated 400 percent profit. From Calicut, the Portuguese entered Goa, where they used a Hindu ally to undermine the Muslim sultanate and establish themselves. They also discovered, and began to tell the rest of Europe, that Asia was not a marginal and mystical place, back of beyond, east of Eden, on the edge of nowhere. Rather, India in particular was, as one economic historian has put it, “on the way to everywhere.” The human worlds of the Indian Ocean were richer and more densely interconnected than anywhere else on Earth.15


While the Portuguese were now close to the heart of the world’s riches, the Spanish seemed to be on its far fringes. It was even possible, despite Columbus’s claims, that they were not in Asia. In his celebrated 1507 world map, Martin Waldseemüller said they weren’t even close. He called the new lands “America” to honor the explorer, Amerigo Vespucci, who contradicted Columbus: this was not part of Asia but a new world. Waldseemüller presented Florida and the eastern coast of South America as large islands, with the West Indies floating alongside, all entirely distinct from Asia. Thrilling stuff, historically momentous, and confirmation that the Spanish settlements were nowhere near the lands of the spices. Score one for the Portuguese—for the moment.16


•   •   •


Magellan had participated in several of the conquests that moved his native kingdom of Portugal ever east. Surviving portraits of him (none done from life) show a man with dark eyes, dark beard, and the dark garb of a minor nobleman, indistinguishable from thousands of his Mediterranean contemporaries. But the record of his deeds sketches an excellent portrait of the man. It is no good wishing he were a nice person; he was more or less a ruthless thug. (The first commander of a circumnavigation who resembled a nice person would not draw breath until 1723—you will meet him in chapter 4.) Magellan had helped to subjugate parts of East Africa and India. Wounded by a javelin in Morocco, he acquired a limp without losing status as a fighter. But he also gained a reputation for prickly self-regard, on several occasions arguing for rights, authority, and remuneration beyond what was obviously his. He wanted more and became ever more creative about getting it.17


He saw a great opportunity in Malacca, rich and strategic possession of the sultans who ruled the Malaysian Peninsula in Southeast Asia. Magellan accompanied a 1509 mission to Malacca that was abruptly expelled. He then joined the outright invasion of 1511, led by Afonso de Albuquerque, veteran of the Portuguese invasion of India. After a six-week siege, Malacca fell. “An infinite number of Moslems, men, women and children died by the sword,” Albuquerque claimed; “nobody’s life was spared.”18


It was a boast and it was a lie. The victors destroyed Malacca selectively, preserving booty, including Muslim captives. That was how Magellan gained a slave known only as Enrique, who was probably too young to have borne arms against the invaders. No image or description of Enrique survives, but he must have had some quality that made him valuable. His grasp of the region’s language and geography (he was said to be from Sumatra, so perhaps knew about lands beyond Malacca) was probably what interested Magellan, who now possessed knowledge of Asia in human form.19


Similar knowledge was promised to the king of Portugal, including a “great map belonging to a Javanese pilot, which showed the Cape of Good Hope, Portugal and the territory of Brazil, the Red Sea and the Persian Gulf, and the spice islands.” A veritable diagram of Portugal’s expanding empire, the map was almost too good to be true. And it was promptly lost, along with other documents and treasure, on the Flor de la Mar, which sank off Sumatra. Albuquerque assured the king that he had a copy of the most valuable parts of the map, including,


the route your ships should follow to reach the spice islands, where the gold mines are located and the islands of Java and Banda, where the nutmeg and mace come from, and the territory of the king of Siam. You will also see the extent of Chinese navigation and where they return to and the point beyond which they do not sail.


But where was that point, exactly?20


To find out, the Portuguese pushed farther east and the Spanish west. In 1511, Albuquerque ordered António de Abreu to lead an expedition to the Spice Islands. One of Magellan’s friends and a fellow veteran of the invasion of India, Francisco Serrão, went with him. Abreu sailed first through the Java Sea and then the Banda Sea. He and his crew almost certainly glimpsed the western edge of the Pacific Ocean, but they evidently thought it was just another part of the Indian Ocean. The Spaniard Vasco Núñez de Balboa spotted the Pacific from the other side, after Native Americans guided him through the Isthmus of Panama in 1513. Because he gave the first written description of what he named the Mar del Sur, South Sea, Balboa gets the credit for “discovering” the Pacific. He was guessing that the body of water might be part of the Ocean Sea that lay south of the Asian mainland. If so, then it and the ocean east of Malacca were one and the same, and perhaps rather small, if the circumference of the Earth were itself on the small side. There was another if, a strategic if: if the Spanish claims to the new world gave them easy access to the Spice Islands, they might be able to keep at least part of the spice trade out of Portuguese hands.21


Abreu had reported that, rather amazingly (and it was true), all of the world’s cloves, mace, and nutmegs came from a small archipelago that the Portuguese would call the Moluccas. These islands, south of the Philippines and east of New Guinea (part of what are now Indonesia’s Maluku Islands), contained Ternate and Tidore (source of cloves) and the Banda archipelago (nutmeg and mace). Abreu had not himself reached the Moluccas, but one of his crew, Magellan’s friend Serrão, was shipwrecked there. Serrão allied himself with Ternate’s sultan, married several women, and generally made himself at home. When offered rescue by a subsequent Portuguese expedition, he declined, but sent at least one letter to Magellan. Now lost, the correspondence evidently invited Magellan to join him. Serrão misled his friend, however, by exaggerating the wealth of the Moluccas and their distance from Malacca, which made Magellan think that the islands lay much farther east from Europe than they actually did.22


Magellan decided to sail not only to the Moluccas but beyond. Sometime in late 1515 or early 1516, after his return to Portugal, he met with King Manuel I and offered to lead a new expedition. At this point, he probably meant to go to the Moluccas by the old route, via the Cape of Good Hope, which the king already controlled. Perhaps for that reason, the proposal went nowhere. Magellan made a fateful decision to turn renegade.23


His knowledge of Asia made him valuable to Portugal’s rival, Spain. He arrived in Seville in October 1517, and sought audience with King Charles I, who was eager to enter the spice trade that Columbus had promised his grandparents yet failed to deliver. Magellan proposed to sail to the Spice Islands and claim them for Spain, presumably with the help of Serrão. Magellan knew better than to ask Charles to risk war with Portugal. Instead, he offered to prove that the passage westward to the Moluccas was less than the eastward route, which would mean that the Spice Islands lay within the Spanish sphere laid out in the Treaty of Tordesillas.


His plan depended on yet another bold hypothesis: that ships could pass through the southern landmass below the Caribbean, the place that kept cartographers busy by growing whenever someone returned with news of yet more land down under. Some of that news might have encouraged Magellan, particularly descriptions of a large river, the Río de la Plata, which at least two previous expeditions had tried to navigate to Balboa’s South Sea, without success.24


Magellan thought he could do better. He favored estimates of a small globe and he sided with Columbus against Vespucci: there was no such place as America. The growing landmass beneath the Caribbean was surely a part of Asia that bulged east and south. Indeed, Magellan believed the ocean Balboa had seen was no South Sea but the Magnus Sinus, a partially enclosed sea at the eastern end of the Indian Ocean. And Magellan revived yet another Columbian idea, the search for places described in scripture. If he thought he could sail to paradise, he held that notion quietly to himself, but he planned to reach islands the Portuguese called the Lequios (Formosa, now Taiwan, and the Ryukyu Islands south of Japan). He was confident they were the gold-laden Tarshish and Ophir of the Bible. To make his case, he introduced two expert witnesses: his learned friend Ruy Faleiro, master of the latest geographic theories, and his slave Enrique, who embodied personal knowledge of the East. He and Faleiro dazzled King Charles with a world map, likely one done with a rare polar projection (with the south pole at the center), all the better to detail the proposed southern route west out of the Atlantic Ocean.25


Charles was convinced. He offered Magellan and Faleiro five ships and 230 men, artillery, a twentieth of the profits from the all-important spices, and the right to take title as adelantados or governors of any new lands they found within the Spanish division of the globe. This was the standard arrangement: an explorer offered an idea and the underwriter supplied materials and incentive. Most of the materials built or maintained sailing ships; much of the incentive was to get people onto those ships.26


•   •   •


Because we know Magellan’s era as an “age of sail,” we assume he and his contemporaries took to the sea gladly. They did not, and for good reason. Praise has been lavished, deservedly, on Renaissance advances in navigation, ship design, and geographic knowledge. But one thing did not improve. Ships’ capacity as life-support systems was dreadful and would not get better until the late eighteenth century. That was a rather severe problem for long-distance travel, especially circumnavigations. The physical conditions of Magellan’s voyage are therefore worth examining in detail, because they would be representative of what circumnavigators would endure for the next 250 years.


“Life-support system” is anachronistic as a term, but people in the Renaissance would have known what it meant, given that they thought of a sailing ship as a “wooden world,” a floating microcosm of the larger world in which humans lived. The microcosms were indeed small. The vessel da Gama had taken to India and back had been a mere 178 tons. (A “ton” in this sense is not a measure of the ship’s weight, but rather a measure of the volume of water it displaces.) Horatio Nelson’s HMS Victory would be 1,921 tons and the RMS Titanic almost fifty times that size. Each of Magellan’s five ships was even smaller than da Gama’s, and only slightly bigger than Christopher Columbus’s, on his first voyage to America—the Moluccas were just around the corner from there, after all. Magellan’s flagship, the Trinidad, was probably around 110 toneles or 120 modern tons, and the San Antonio slightly larger, 120 toneles. The Concepción, Victoria, and Santiago were all smaller, with the last weighing in at 90 tons. They would each have been around 60 feet in length, as long, roughly, as a railroad car.27


Ships were designed for sailing, but not for sailors. The top deck of an oceangoing vessel would have been the roomiest, but the lower decks very cramped and, without air and natural light, chokingly close and pitch black. Candles and lanterns were necessary, though a constant fire risk. The bilge at the very bottom always contained some water, which rendered all parts of the ship quite damp, basically in various stages of rot. The longer the journey, the worse the conditions. Travelers expected to become ill, especially if they went to climates unlike those of Europe. They also assumed that they were meant to live on land, not at sea. Seasickness was known to affect most people, even experienced mariners. One Spaniard who vomited his way to America lamented how the sea “was not a fit place for human beings.” Da Gama must have concluded the same as his men melted away from scurvy, and that disease would become the ultimate proof that human bodies simply failed at sea.28


However miserably undersized, sailing ships were expensive. They may not have been costly in terms of labor to build, and they may have had a free source of power in the wind, but they needed prodigious quantities of wood for their construction. Together, Magellan’s five ships had probably required close to 1,000 trees. Indeed, the famous ships of European voyages of exploration represented the final demise of the forests of the Mediterranean and the beginning of an intensive exploitation of wooded parts of the Baltic, Scandinavia, Russia, and, eventually, the Americas. As if they missed the forests from which they had been chopped, wooden ships were unable to stay away from land for very long. They always needed spare lumber for repairs, yet could never carry much of it.29


And if the wind was a free power source, the human labor that manipulated it was not. Night and day, sailors set and struck sails to keep a ship on course. (The space belowdecks could be small because seamen were never all there at once; someone was always on watch above.) A ship’s master, who took charge of provisions and cargo, had to maintain a careful balance: a bigger ship could carry more material, but would then need a larger crew—who would then need more provisions. Sailors could neither drink nor breathe the element over which they sailed, nor depend on it for food. So ships had to be crammed with as much terrestrial stuff as possible, especially food, water, and firewood.


Before the invention of canning or artificial refrigeration, methods of preserving food were limited. To delay decay, food could be dried, as with baking, or salt or sugar could be forced into it. The mainstays of a sailor’s diet were ship’s biscuit or hardtack (bread hard-baked to keep at sea, just about), water, and wine, supplemented with cheese, beans, rice, and salted meat or fish. The captain and other officers brought their own provisions, including delicacies suited to their station and livestock to be slaughtered en route.


The biscuit was the main thing; everything else was bound to rot or run out, and any sane captain made land as often as possible to get food and water. He also replenished supplies of wood, as well as the cloth, rope, and leather that served hundreds of purposes. Magellan knew perfectly well that his ships were like cranky unweaned babies, always needing to return and suckle at the shore. Yet he took only two years’ worth of supplies, rather optimistic compared to the three-years’ supply that da Gama’s first fleet had carried.30


A sailing ship not only had to protect humans from the sea, but get them across it. For that reason, a ship was the largest and most complicated piece of machinery yet invented, with an array of internal mechanisms—rudder, rigging, and pumps—necessary to steer, adjust sails, and keep out water. A variety of other devices (cannon, compasses, spyglasses, astrolabes, sand-clocks) were loaded aboard. Human hands had to manage all this equipment. Any vessel that lost its minimum crew was doomed to drift, fill with water, or be wrecked. But any ship that needed a large crew needed greater capacity for provisions, so new developments in ship design were trade-offs. The narrow caravels that the Portugese had recently adapted from Arab ship design were built for speed and maneuverability, but they lacked a traditional carrack’s carrying capacity. Expeditions often had both types of ship, to mix their benefits. Four of Magellan’s ships were carracks; one, the Trinidad, was a caravel.31


It was an acknowledged paradox that a ship, that complex and expensive piece of machinery, chockablock with smaller and yet more delicate devices, was put into the hands of rabble. No one respected the common sailor. Iberian sailors earned less than skilled workers on land and came from the lowest social ranks. (Free blacks and mulattos, people one step away from slavery in European societies, were common on European ships.) Captains and officers ranked higher, but often had limited means, as with the younger sons of good but impoverished families who went to sea. And they were poorly paid. A military admiral got a mere two ducats a day; a woman in a Seville brothel could earn twice that by servicing his crew.32


But, in this pre-industrial world, wages were beside the point. Every free man who worked a vessel was a partner in the venture and promised a cut of the profits. For Magellan’s expedition, shares were measured in the spices each man could bring back for himself, using jealously allocated cargo space. Magellan was allowed the maximum, 82 quintales; an ordinary sailor got 3.5 quintales; others had shares in between. There would have been around 46 kilos in a quintal, so Magellan’s share was 3,772 kilos, over 4 fragrant tons. At expected market prices, a sailor’s share of spices (minus taxes and required religious donations) would more than double his wages.33


The added cost of outfitting Magellan’s ships for trade overran the royal budget. Private investors made up the shortfall. One merchant alone footed a quarter of the bill: Cristóbal de Haro, a veteran of one of the attempts to sail up the Río de la Plata and an associate of the Fugger family, Europe’s most powerful bankers. Haro prepared a wealth of goods as gifts, bribes, or trade items, including textiles, bars of copper, vials of quicksilver, 20,000 small bells, 10,000 fishhooks, 1,000 looking glasses, assorted knives, and a selection of brass and copper bracelets.34


Assembling the ships’ complements was equally important. Any ship’s crew was a microcosm of Europe’s social hierarchy. Captain-general Magellan presided at the top, from the flagship, with the captains of the four other ships beneath him. The five ships’ masters came next. Below them were the pilots, who acted as navigators, as well as the gunners, in charge of the ordnance. Then came ordinary sailors and, at the very bottom, ship’s pages, boys apprenticed to the sea. The lack of women signaled the artificial nature of shipboard society. Sailors whispered that a female on a ship was bad luck. The real problem was the sexual competition a woman might create among the men. For that reason, a woman at sea had to be under the protection of a powerful man on board, or else designated as the property of someone extremely powerful on land, as with female captives sent to a monarch. Otherwise, a woman was sexual prey. A captain might not care about her, but worried about the damage his men would do to each other by fighting for access to her. (Or to boys, who were also sexual prey.)35


Magellan was careful to assemble a crew he could control. Faleiro, despite plans to be the expedition’s mastermind navigator, either blurted a confession that he knew everything he did because a demon told him, or else Magellan invented the story to discard a potential rival and select a more acquiescent pilot for his flagship. He also worried about being surrounded by Spaniards. He made special requests for more Portuguese, and in the end, about thirty-seven went, several of them his relatives. The final crew numbered somewhere between 270 and 280 men, and they were an unusually international bunch. Over 35 percent were not Spanish, including the Portuguese, but also French, Italian, German, Flemish, Irish, and Greek men, and some of African descent, plus some truly exotic characters: two Malays (including “Enrique de Malacca”), and at least one Englishman. There was the usual assortment of skilled men, including several monks to spread the gospel.36


Literacy and skill only sometimes indicated place in a ship’s hierarchy. The ships’ pilots, for instance, were of middling rank. Although they had mastered the instrumentation necessary for celestial navigation, their abilities were considered the result of mere experience at sea, similar to what ordinary sailors had. (The fact that slaves and foreigners could serve as pilots underscored navigation’s low status.) Literacy and the ability to keep a record of the journey were not the preserves of high rank. Many of Magellan’s men kept journals or logs, although most are lost, including Magellan’s. Most were done by lower-ranking men, including several pilots. But the longest surviving narrative was written by someone of gentle birth. Antonio Pigafetta was a minor Venetian nobleman and knight of a religious order that answered to the Pope. Such was the growing fame of Magellan’s expedition, even in Rome, that Pigafetta asked permission of his order to join it and arrived in Seville with suitable letters of reference. He evidently kept detailed notes and sketches, enough to tell the story of the journey.37


With blasts of artillery, the fleet descended the Guadalquivir River from Seville on August 10, 1519. Take a good look at them here, in their seaworthy glory, because the expedition would be the first vanishing act performed on the world stage, as its ships and men fought a war of attrition against the Earth itself. (You may follow their route on Map 1.)


On September 20, the five vessels entered the Atlantic. At Tenerife in the Canary Islands, Magellan kept following the coast of Africa south and only later swung west to Brazil. His reluctance to use the familiar route from the Canaries to the Caribbean, with its predictable westward winds, was puzzling. All of the ships’ pilots were compliant Portuguese, but three of the four captains were Spaniards and one of them, not for the last time, questioned the captain-general’s judgment.38


Once across the equator, the crew adjusted to navigating without the north star, Polaris, which indicates north in the northern hemisphere. A pilot who had lived in Brazil guided the fleet to that place, claimed by Portugal, though luckily for Magellan barely settled by his estranged nation. Magellan ordered a stop at Rio de Janeiro, and for thirteen days the crew gathered provisions from a group of Tupi or Guaraní Indians.39


Pigafetta’s response to them mingled wonder with contempt—typical sentiments. Europeans expected non-Christians to be different, indeed inferior. Pigafetta related old tales of American cannibalism, for instance, though he failed to witness any. Yet he conceded that the Indians understood trade, a significant mark of human civility. Pigafetta lists eight words with their local counterparts, most of them relevant to trade, but also the first written instance of amache, a “hammock” in which a person could sleep in the tropics, cool and away from creeping vermin.40


Just after Christmas, the fleet continued down the coast in search of the thing essential to the mission: a way through the land. From this point on, European geographic knowledge ebbed. Magellan had recruited, maybe voluntarily, at least one Brazilian, the first of many non-European people the expedition would gather up for information. Once the fleet reached the Río de la Plata, about 35 degrees south of the equator, it was as far south as the tip of Africa, lower than most European ships ventured. After investigating some rivers that proved dead ends, the fleet wintered at a natural harbor it found on March 31, 1520, and named Puerto San Julián (now in Argentina). There, at the 49th parallel, the men hunted bizarre “geese” that could not be plucked but had to be skinned whole—penguins. For two months, they assumed the nearby land to be uninhabited until, one day, “a giant” appeared.41


Blame Pigafetta for that description, a last gasp of belief in the monstrous races. (He had already breathlessly claimed another Indian man was “as tall as a giant.”) Certainly, everyone agreed that the man was large and marveled how he “danced, leaped, and sang,” a solo performance, just for them. Magellan sent one man to approach the stranger, “charging him to leap and sing like the other in order to reassure him.” Somehow, it did, and the sailor danced the stranger over to meet the others.42


However exciting it was to discover people, and massive ones at that, the “giants” were an unwelcome distraction for everyone but Magellan. The men fumed while the commander delayed the expedition in order to secure for Spain a land uninhabited by Christians. One giant stayed with the crew so long that the monks baptized him. Magellan also wanted to bring some giants back to Spain, as proof of a land he could claim as governor. He tricked two men into captivity by adorning them with anklets that turned out to be shackles. They roared, “loudly calling on Setebos (that is, the great devil) to help them.” Relations deteriorated. In a skirmish, an arrow killed one of the crewmen. And yet the Europeans could not manage to shoot any of the antic giants, whose dancing now seemed a canny form of defense.43


Amidst it all, Pigafetta composed a Tehuelche vocabulary, a total of ninety words. Over one third of them were for parts of the body, and it is easy to imagine Pigafetta drawing aside an informant or two, pointing, listening, scribbling. As in Brazil, several words relate to trade, mostly European goods. Others describe colors, ten are verbs, one is the pronoun we, and yet another a command: come here. A subset of words address maritime affairs and navigation: sun, stars, sea, wind, storm, and ship, plus to go far and the guide.44


The list reveals disappointment. Unlike the Brazilians, these people, in a colder climate, had limited food and capacity for trade. One of the pilots claimed they had no concept of property. Nor did the rudimentary list of sea terms yield much information about geography or navigation. That especially must have frustrated Magellan. He gave the people the contemptuous name of Pathagoni, which anyone who spoke a Romance language would recognize as referring to an animal “with large paws.” The assumption that the Patagonians were beasts would mar centuries of Western relations with them.45


Magellan tarried in Patagonia, lord of a people he disliked, for five months, ample time for unease to grow into mutiny. Why was it taking so long to get to Asia? Was the captain-general only interested in his own glory? The masters of three of the other ships conspired to kill him and sail back to Spain. This was unusual. The Spanish Empire carefully regulated its ships—mutinies of entire crews had become rare. But a long expedition, especially one headed by a foreigner, was difficult to control, particularly when the foreigner had promised a short expedition. Luckily for Magellan, news of the conspiracy leaked. He put the mutineers on trial, executing some, casting others ashore to fend for themselves, and demoting the rest. He put each ship under a Portuguese captain.46


Magellan ordered the smallest vessel, the Santiago, to keep searching for a passage. It was a bad sign that the ship did not return, and worse when debris from it began floating into San Julián. (A coincidental solar eclipse probably increased any sense of dread.) The ship was indeed wrecked, though most of the cargo and all but one man were saved, to be redistributed among the four remaining ships. Magellan placed a large cross on the tallest mountain “as a sign that the said land belonged to the King of Spain,” and, at last, moved on. The expedition investigated another large river, another dead end. For two months, the men took on water, wood, and fish, then continued south.47


On the autumn feast day of the Eleven Thousand Virgins, Magellan discovered the most promising inlet of all, around 53 degrees south. “Found by miracle,” Pigafetta declared of Cape Virgins, and the others surely agreed, over a year since their departure from Seville. Magellan sent the San Antonio and Concepción to see how far they could ascend the river. He swore he had seen, in Portugal’s royal treasury, a map that showed a hidden strait from the Atlantic to the Magnus Sinus.48


Two days passed, a storm blew up, and those left behind feared the other ships were lost, smashed in a narrow bend or run aground. Pigafetta related how in great suspense “we saw the two ships approaching under full sail and flying their banners,” already a good sign. Then the San Antonio and Concepción “suddenly discharged their ordnance, at which we very joyously greeted them in the same way . . . thanking God and the Virgin Mary.”49


The happy discovery had come too late—the expedition had been out beyond the half-life of its supplies. Magellan asked his officers for counsel, assuring them that he welcomed any “reasons why we ought to go forward or turn back.” But when they recommended a return to Spain, he ignored them. He ordered the reconnaissance ships to investigate what seemed an alternate opening to the channel. The pilot of the San Antonio realized this was the last chance to abandon the mission. He conspired with other Spaniards to overpower the captain, Magellan’s brother. The San Antonio slipped off in the night and bore north. When she entered hotter latitudes, her captive Patagonian died; when she returned to Spain in May 1521, the pilot ringleader was imprisoned and the conspirators put on trial (though they were acquitted and their belief that Magellan had overstayed his time at sea vindicated). The mutineers gave the last news of the expedition that anyone in Europe would have for over a year.50


Meanwhile, the Concepción trustingly waited for the San Antonio, and Magellan sent a smaller boat to see where the passage ended. Within three days, the boat returned and confirmed that the strait led to another sea. Overcome, Magellan “began to weep and gave this [western] cape the name Cape of Desire, as a thing much desired and long sought.” No wonder he wept—his backup plan had been to continue 20 degrees further toward the south pole, 75 degrees below the equator. (No one knew it yet, but the Southern Ocean begins to freeze around 60 degrees south.) He then learned that the San Antonio was missing, and ordered signals and directions placed for the stray to follow. The fleet now lacked two of its ships, including the largest, the San Antonio, with corresponding losses of men and supplies.51


It was late October when the Trinidad, Victoria, and Concepción entered the strait. The ships had to move slowly to avoid scraping the sides of the channel. It was like threading a dreadful needle, three times in a row. The strait was so deep that the ships could not anchor at night. Men in boats attached cables to the land, a very time-consuming effort, though an opportunity to get fish and fresh water. The brief nights of the southern summer enabled interesting observations. In the dark, on the starboard side of the strait, the men could see fires, evidence of people unseen, but perhaps watching them—hence one name for the place, Tierra del Fuego. To port, they heard roaring surf, amplified at night when their senses focused on sound, and a hint that there was not a southern landmass, only sea-lashed islands. It took thirty-seven days to navigate the passage, each ship pulling an invisible thread from Spain to . . . where?52


In late November 1520, the fleet emerged from the strait and into the “Pacific Sea,” as the expedition named it for its apparent lack of storms. Pigafetta represented the strait on a little map, framed by the Ocean Sea and the Pacific Sea opposite. Now, onward to Asia. When he had reached the Isthmus of Panama, Columbus had thought himself nineteen days sail from Japan; Magellan’s friend Serrão had probably made a similar guess. The worst of the journey was supposed to be over.53


Yet nothing so far compared to the agonies ahead. The Pacific is the world’s largest ocean, larger than all the land surfaces of the globe put together, and covering one third of the Earth. Magellan had to admit what he had denied: an ocean quite clearly separated Asia from the Americas. He was lucky that excellent prevailing winds carried him north and west, yet unlucky not to encounter a single inhabited part of Polynesia, where he might have found food, water, and information.54


This was the first big surprise of the expedition: the globe was much bigger than anyone had suspected. And its southern waters might not contain corresponding land, as the roaring surf in the strait had already hinted. Pigafetta, for one, lost all faith in the existence of the great southern continent thought necessary to balance the landmasses of the global north. He shuddered to think of what might have happened had the ships headed due west from the Cape of Desire, south of the Cape of Good Hope: they would have swung around the world at the 52nd parallel, right back to the Cape of the Eleven Thousand Virgins.55


For three months and twenty days, the expedition continued north and west as its supplies shrank. The ships’ smallness, an advantage in threading the strait to the Pacific, was now a disaster—on this part of the world’s surface, they were inadequate artificial worlds. When all the real food ran out, the men ate the remaining and oldest ship’s biscuit, “turned to powder, all full of worms and stinking of the urine which the rats had made on it.” Next came oxhides, softened for several days in the sea, grilled, and forced down with “water impure and yellow.” Every human disaster has its cheerful opportunists and those stuck out in the middle of the Pacific Ocean with Ferdinand Magellan ran the trade in tasty rats, half an écu apiece; “some of us could not get enough,” Pigafetta reminisced. There was no land except for two tiny uninhabited islands that had no shootable animals, no water, and no low-growing vegetation, only birds and trees. Each islet was, moreover, in water too deep to anchor and patrolled by sharks: “Wherefore we called them the Isles of Misfortune.” Those Unfortunate Isles mirrored the Fortunate Isles (Canaries) on the opposite side of the globe. The men had reached the back of the rolled-up map.56


When they developed scurvy, with gums so swollen they could eat nothing at all, they knew for sure that humans were unsuited to life at sea. Indeed, the cause of scurvy seemed to be prolonged removal from land. (Fatal instances of the disease ashore were too unusual or scattered to contradict that suspicion.) Pigafetta observed that men of all nations suffered—whatever their native climates, they shared an inability to live at sea: “twenty-nine of us [Europeans] died, and the other [Patagonian] giant died, and an Indian of the said country of Verzin” or Brazil. Dozens of others were too weak to work. Men of high rank and anyone connected to them (and their private stores) did better, including Magellan, Pigafetta, and Enrique.57


It is striking that Pigafetta’s narrative would be illustrated, from this point on, with maps of islands. Only the first map, of the strait through Patagonia, hints at a larger landmass. Thereafter, starting with the Unfortunate Isles (two unpromising ovals amid a great many waves), the maps resemble Mediterranean “Island Books.” These map-illustrated works presented a world of water punctuated with small bits of land. The Latin name for such a book, isolario, emphasizes that isolated islands were small comfort to sailors. Moreover, unlike da Gama, Magellan had no native pilot to guide him. If he had hoped that the Brazilian or Patagonian would help him, that does not seem to have happened, and then the two men died.58


To determine their position, the sailors looked to the skies. They could easily determine latitude from the length of the day and the Sun’s position at its highest point, adjusted for season and hemisphere. Longitude could be determined on land (the Spanish had a secret method for doing that), but it was much trickier at sea because it depended on the position of other celestial bodies relative to a ship’s progress, mostly guesswork. Latitudinal readings tended to be off by only a degree, but those for longitude could be 10, 20, even 30 degrees in error—as much as the distance between London and Kiev. It astonished everyone that the southern hemisphere had not only the wide-set stars of the northern hemisphere, but also “several small stars clustered together, in the manner of two clouds a little separated from one another, and somewhat dim.” These clouds (later determined to be some of Earth’s nearest galaxies) were fascinating to behold but not so useful for navigation. The sailors found much more helpful a “cross of five very bright stars right in the west,” the Southern Cross (first described by Vespucci in 1503) that pointed toward the south pole. Each of the ships’ pilots used compass and celestial readings to keep a chart on which he pricked a line to represent the ship’s track, the first paper maps of the seemingly endless South Pacific.59


Once across the equator, Magellan veered slightly west, and fetched up in Guam. He stopped to get supplies. The crew were still getting the sails down when they noticed some people from a nearby village making off with the flagship’s skiff. It was an awkward welcome, though the local people may have had good reasons to dislike outsiders and could not have known what the expedition had endured. That may have been what unnerved the Europeans: they didn’t know where they were, and no one else in the world knew how far they had come. Magellan landed with an armed force that burned the village, killed at least seven people, and recovered the skiff. The Europeans declared that the island and those around it should be called the Islas de los Ladrones, “Islands of Thieves,” and, for centuries, European mapmakers granted their wish.60


•   •   •


Guam was a rough re-entry to the inhabited world that had steadily receded, from the lonely coast of Patagonia, through the eerily isolating strait, and across the seemingly deserted Pacific. Such was the shock of encountering human societies after all that time that the “Ladrones” are the only people represented on any of Pigafetta’s maps: two men row a boat of misleadingly European configuration, but with an unmistakable outrigger.


Yet the Earth, not its people, was the problem. In thinking the globe was small, Magellan had erred colossally. The Pacific had cost him time, supplies, men, and—crucially—space. Who would now believe that the Moluccas lay within the Spanish sphere? Magellan said he did not want to head immediately to the Spice Islands because he had heard they lacked provisions. More likely, he still hoped to claim lands outside Portuguese territory, which could not lie any farther west. Indeed, his northwest heading showed that he still expected to get to Tarshish and Ophir, or even to China.61


First, he had to feed his crew. Some of the scurvy victims begged the Guam-bound war party to bring back entrails from the enemy dead, convinced the gruesome medication would cure them. Pigafetta delicately neglects to follow that story line. Magellan was confident that mere contact with land, plus fresh terrestrial stuff, would remove scurvy—a belief that would have a long, eventful history. After making landfall in the eastern Philippines, he ordered tents pitched ashore for the sick and a pig killed to feed them.62


When Magellan showed the local people his samples of gold and spices and indicated his heading, they “made signs that the things which the captain had shown them grew in the places whither we were going.” Unfortunately for everyone, Magellan decided to stay and claim the Philippines for Spain. That meant more delay for his spice-hungry crew. Nor were the islands likely to be easy conquests or eager trading partners. Parts of the archipelago were under powerful government, including a Buddhist kingdom and several Muslim sultanates. And most of the islands already traded with the outside world, especially the Asian mainland, Indonesia, and Japan.63


An accident of language may have encouraged Magellan’s imperial design. At Leyte, Enrique leaned out of the Trinidad to hail eight men in a boat and they understood him. Malay and the Austronesian languages of the Philippines are mutually intelligible, and the Philippine aristocracy primarily spoke Old Malay. When the rajah Kolambu arrived, “the said slave [Enrique] spoke to that king, who understood him well.” Magellan declined Kolambu’s presents, perhaps bribes to encourage his departure, and instead offered to buy provisions, which Enrique negotiated by going ashore alone, a sign of his master’s trust in him. The rajah and Magellan then displayed their respective treasures. For Magellan, that included “the marine chart and the compass of his ship,” also news of “the strait [by which] to come hither, and of the time which he had spent in coming, also how he had not seen any land. At which the king marveled,” perhaps relieved that the rest of Europe would not descend on him any time soon.64


Magellan sank deeper into the region’s complicated politics, until he decided to conquer an island or two. He succeeded with Cebu, and believed he had made an ally and Christian convert of its ruler, Rajah Humabon. Magellan turned to a neighboring island, Mactan, where a local leader, Zula, reported that his overlord, Rajah Silapulapu (or Lapu Lapu), wanted nothing to do with Spain.65


Magellan decided to make another show of force. For reasons of his own, Zula agreed to help. But the forty-nine men Magellan led to shore at dawn met Filipino soldiers by the thousands. Disastrously, the ships’ cannon could not reach the battlefield. Magellan soon realized that his firearms and crossbows were ineffective. “Do not fire, do not fire any more,” he reportedly yelled at his men, but they disobeyed in order to cover their retreat back to the boats. Eventually, he was too wounded to fight. Down he went. “All at once,” Pigafetta recalled, the enemy “rushed upon him with lances of iron and of bamboo and [struck] with these javelins, so that they slew our mirror, our light, our comfort, and our true guide.”66


Pretty sentiments, but it is likely that the crew had encouraged their light and comfort’s little invasion to get rid of him, after yet another frustrating dalliance in lands without spices. Rather than risk another mutiny, his men had arranged for others to kill their commander. But, really, it was the size of the globe that had brought down Fernão de Magalhães e Sousa, who might have lived longer had the Moluccas been only the year’s sail from Spain he had promised.


The crew selected two new captains-general: Duarte Barbosa, Magellan’s brother-in-law, and João Serrão, brother of Magellan’s friend who had settled in the Moluccas. They tried to rally Enrique, who kept “wrapped in a blanket” on the pretext, Pigafetta sneered, of being “slightly wounded” in the melee. Maybe Enrique feared abuse without his master’s protection. Indeed, Barbosa told Enrique, loudly enough for all to hear, “that although the captain his master was dead, he would not be set free or released” but held as property for his master’s widow (Barbosa’s sister) in Spain. Enrique flung off his blanket and headed for shore, where he evidently plotted with Rajah Humabon to seize the three European ships. Barbosa’s threat, and the slave’s reaction to it, hints at a bargain Magellan might have struck with Enrique: get me to the Moluccas and I will free you. Humabon’s haste to conspire against the Iberians revealed an equally fragile accord: the man had suffered baptism and promised fealty only under duress.67


Humabon lured Serrão, Barbosa, and twenty-five others to land. Those who stayed behind heard shrieks and groans, then saw Serrão hauled out, bound and bleeding. He shouted that all but he and Enrique had been killed. His comrades dared not send a rescue boat, lest it too be taken. They abandoned Serrão, whose fate is unknown. As is Enrique’s. Although Serrão had seen Enrique alive, the Malay slave was listed among those who died in the Philippines. Of course, he was not supposed to be there in the first place—Albuquerque’s forces had killed him in 1511, or so the story went. Maybe he survived another Iberian boast about his demise. Maybe Rajah Humabon let him go home. Maybe he reached Malacca or Sumatra before the Spaniards returned to Seville. If so, he was the first person to go around the world.68


Freed from Magellan’s scheming, the expedition was back on course. As Pigafetta laconically noted, “Before the captain died, we had news of the islands of Molucca.”69


•   •   •


Perhaps the people on Cebu could see the smoke, though the Spanish had been careful to sail away some distance before they burned the Concepción. The expedition’s recent losses—six or eight men on Mactan and twenty-six on Cebu—meant that only one hundred twenty men remained, not enough for three vessels. Having redistributed cargo and men into the Trinidad and Victoria, the crew destroyed the Concepción rather than leave her to the scavengers who were already turning up in small sailing praus. The fleet had lost over half its ships and crew, including many of its original leaders and its principal interpreter.70


Pigafetta alone was qualified to take Enrique’s place. In the Philippines, he had compiled his longest vocabulary to date, Bisaya words for body parts, numbers, pepper, cloves, cinnamon, and ginger. Equipped with a regional language, and quick to learn others, he was critical to the mission and had a front seat on the action. At the Kingdom of Brunei, for instance, he got to ride on one of the silk-clad elephants that Rajah Siripada sent to collect a delegation.71


The delegates probably looked bedraggled, especially against those elegant elephants. While at sea, sailors (and sometimes officers) went barefoot and wore canvas trousers and jackets. In the tropics, they stripped down to their underwear, thigh-length linen shirt and drawers. When they met with dignitaries, the leaders rolled thin hose up their legs, stamped into shoes or boots, and shrugged on doublets, tailored tunics. But most of the men lacked fine clothes and all the garments must have been past their prime. When the battered ships reached Borneo, Pigafetta would complain that “the greatest labor which we had was that of searching for and cutting wood in the forests, without shoes.” Pigafetta always admired any rich Asian garb he saw, even as he and his companions slipped into decrepitude, a humiliating consequence of their overstretched supply line.72


The expedition’s leadership was equally patchy. The pilot João Carvalho, who had guided the expedition to Brazil, was now captain-general and an outright pirate. At Luzon, he seized several sailing junks. When he used his son as a hostage in a diplomatic standoff with a rajah in Borneo, and lost his boy, some of the crew believed he had sold the child to the rajah for gold. He also mistreated prisoners. Along with the cargo from the junks, Carvalho seized sixteen men and three women. To protect them from rape, the latter had been designated as gifts for the queen of Spain, but Carvalho scoffed at Her Majesty and made the women into a private harem.73


Maybe the other men were above rape, but not kidnapping, because it was their only way to navigate. Three island-ringed seas lie between the Philippines and the Spice Islands and it showed how lost they were that the Europeans took captives from each sea to guide them to the next. First, they crossed the Sulu Sea the wrong way, west to Borneo, where Carvalho took three men out of a prau. These captive pilots saved the ships (and themselves) from being wrecked on the coral reefs around Borneo. Carvalho was at this point removed from command. Gonzalo Gómez de Espinosa took the Trinidad and Juan Sebastián de Elcano, one of the mutineers whose life Magellan had spared, had the Victoria. The ships doubled back to the Philippines, then entered the next sea, the Celebes. There, the expedition seized another ship, killing seven men. One man saved himself by claiming “he knew well where Molucca was.” His knowledge evidently ran out at the islands that divided the Celebes from the Molucca Sea, where the Europeans “took two [new] pilots by force that we might learn from them of Molucca.” All went well until the fleet could not clear one final obstacle to the Molucca Sea, an island “very beautiful to behold” but smack in the way.74


Once the two ships escaped the lovely, stubborn island, one captive got his bearings. Some very high islands were the Moluccas, he said, and he was right. Such was Pigafetta’s relief, after “twenty-five months less two days” since departure, that the only living plant in any of his illustrations appears on the map of the Moluccas. It is a clove tree. (See illustration 2.)75


Finally, finally, in the Spice Islands, Espinosa and Elcano were interested in nothing but cloves. On Ternate, both the sultan and Magellan’s friend Francisco Serrão, whose correspondence had started the whole affair, had died eight months earlier, perhaps poisoned. But Sultan Manzor of Tidore was open for business. On Tidore, Espinosa and Elcano built a little trading house, Spain’s sole outpost in Asia. There, the long-preserved stockpile of trade goods, augmented by cargo from the looted junks, was rapidly exchanged for tons of spice.76


The Iberians were desperate to cooperate. When Manzor asked for their Asian captives, they surrendered everyone but their useful pilots from Borneo. The sultan also demanded respect for his Muslim faith. He asked Espinosa and Elcano to kill their pigs, and they did; with his hand on his Quran, he swore an oath of friendship, which they accepted. The Europeans were painfully aware that they cut a poor figure. The sailors had offended local modesty by going ashore in their ragged drawers. They were told to wear more, a humiliating rebuke.77


When a Portuguese man living on Ternate visited Tidore, he confirmed that Elcano and Espinosa were out of their depth. Pedro Afonso de Lorosa told the Iberians that Manzor had kept him away in order to overcharge them, knowing they could not know the local price for fresh cloves. Oh, and they were wanted men. Word had spread, even to India and Malacca, that a Portuguese traitor had led five ships to the Moluccas. The king of Portugal had dispatched ships to the Cape of Good Hope and the Río de la Plata to intercept them, and made at least two attempts to find them in the Moluccas. The Portuguese also lost no time in fortifying their trade to the Spice Islands, and had discovered that they could sail from Malacca to the Moluccas in fifteen days.78


That last fact impressed Elcano and Espinosa. They must have suspected that they were more than halfway to Spain, and now they knew it. A circuit around the world would have to be done, and any pretense of never entering Portuguese territory laid aside. In a final frenzy of trade, many sailors swapped extra clothing for spices. Elcano gave the sultan firearms and gunpowder in exchange for wood; Manzor threw in some precious skins of birds of Paradise for the king of Spain. Many dignitaries turned up to wave off the two ships in late December 1521, only for the Trinidad to spring an unfixable leak. Fifty-three men, including Espinosa and the contentious Carvalho, would have to stay behind while the Trinidad underwent extensive repairs. Under Elcano, the Victoria departed alone with a crew of forty-seven Europeans and thirteen Asians, plus two Moluccan pilots hired to pilot the ship out of the archipelago.79


The Victoria dropped south, ultimately headed for the Cape of Good Hope and re-entry to the Atlantic. She was clearly ailing and stopped short of Timor, where the men spent fifteen days doing repairs and adding pepper to the cargo. They also “took a man to guide us to some island where there would be provisions.” At Timor, Elcano needed food so badly that he kidnapped a prominent man and his son to ransom for livestock, the last provisions he would take on for two months. So poor was the outlook that some men deserted.80


Pigafetta, in his final map, signals access to “the Great Sea” with two small, unnamed islands. The Victoria began to leak dangerously and her stores dwindled to small amounts of water, rice, and putrefying meat. Having sold their caps and cloaks for cloves, many men lacked adequate clothing for cold latitudes. Some of them begged to stop at Mozambique, but Elcano did not want to risk exposure to the Portuguese. To avoid detection, he went around the Cape of Good Hope as far out as he dared, near the 42nd parallel, where the winds of what would later be called the Roaring Forties ripped off the top part of his foremast.81


The final run to Spain was hideous. Twenty-one men died, a disproportionate number of them Asian. It is hard to imagine that anyone on the clove-saturated Victoria, as they jettisoned corpses from the perfumed ship, still believed that spices preserved health. The Canary Islands were the nearest Spanish safe haven, but Elcano gave up at Cape Verde and ventured to Santiago to buy provisions from the Portuguese. The crew pretended that the Victoria’s foremast had been damaged in the Atlantic, within Spanish waters. But one man blabbed enough of the truth for the Portuguese to detain a boatload of thirteen men. The Victoria fled, and her remaining eighteen Europeans (plus four Asians) soon reached the mouth of the Guadalquivir River, having sailed an estimated 14,460 leagues “and completed the circuit of the world from east to west.”82


•   •   •


There was some confusion about how long the circuit had taken. At Santiago, the Portuguese had said it was a Thursday. The Victoria’s log said Wednesday, but the Spanish confirmed that the circumnavigators had somehow lost a day. When the eighteen Christian survivors processed to two shrines to give thanks for their deliverance, barefoot and wearing only their shirts, they did penance for having violated a great many sabbaths and holy days, however unwittingly, because they had crossed what would much later be called the International Date Line.83


Wonder of wonders, the Victoria was not just the first ship to go around the world, but also the first time machine. Myths and marvels may have been fading from the world—spices came from real places; monstrous races seemed unlikely. And yet Magellan’s survivors had accomplished something mythic: they, unlike Phaeton, had done a daring revolution around the Earth. They had also discovered the only form of time travel that has ever been proven to work, a marvel straight out of science fiction, and a hint that something natural might divide the globe along lines of longitude, just as surely as the equator did along lines of latitude. The first around-the-world voyage would be difficult to explain, and it would be just as difficult to replicate.




Chapter 2


A World Encompassed


Given that the Magellan/Elcano expedition had been a war of attrition against the vastness of the globe, it is amazing that, whatever else it had run out of on its long, tortured way, it never ran out of paper. Tattered he may have become, reduced to eating rats, but Antonio Pigafetta had packed so much paper that he had about half a ream to spare as gifts to dignitaries in Brunei. If the other provisions of the wooden world had kept the men alive, their journals, diaries, and charts did the same for their story. Published narratives based on those accounts would let other people go around the world by proxy, by far the safest way to do so.1


It is tempting to imagine the reports of around-the-world travel steadily generating better knowledge of the planet, as if a small and inaccurate globe, slowly revolving in a time-lapse display, morphs into its present-day size and configurations. But there was no such smooth integration of information about around-the-world voyages. There was not even a name for what Elcano’s survivors had done; circumnavigation would not be used (in English) until 1625. Instead, the Spaniards were said, in Romance languages, to have encircled or surrounded the globe, and in English to have encompassed it. These verbs had military connotations. That was appropriate, given the deadly implications of around-the-world travel.


•   •   •


The most unfortunate legacy of the first circuit of the world was a vision of world domination. If the Magellan/Elcano expedition had made the globe into a real object, a global stage on which humans actually did something, it also made plans for global empire real, more than metaphors. Every suave villain in a James Bond movie who threatens that “the world is not enough” has a historic ancestor in Charles V, king of Spain, who was eager to make the most of his unprecedented expedition.


Charles had just augmented his kingdom with three imperial acquisitions: the Holy Roman Empire within Europe, Hernán Cortés’s conquest of Mexico, and the outpost on Tidore in the Spice Islands. When Elcano’s cargo of spices was sold, the proceeds did little more than cover the expedition’s expenses. The king and his principal investor, de Haro, divided the small profit and everyone else lost everything. It is doubtful that the sailors who had gone around the world—the original eighteen plus the thirteen eventually released by the Portuguese in Santiago—received wages beyond their initial advance. But Charles’s three acquisitions, if he could hold them, might string together an empire for him that would stretch most of the way around the world.2


To maintain his access to Asia, the king suppressed information about the size of the Pacific: the bigger that ocean, after all, the less credible Spain’s claim to anything on its western side. Although Pigafetta had said that twenty-nine men died during the Pacific crossing, the official list recorded only seven, no small disparity. And although Elcano had kept a journal, Charles V ordered it destroyed to conceal the length of time it had taken the Spanish to get to the Moluccas. He paid off Elcano by promising him an annual pension of 500 ducats and by granting an augmentation to his family’s coat of arms, which now featured a castle, spices, two crowned Asian kings, plus a helmet surmounted by a globe bearing the motto (and the motto said it all): “Primus circumdedisti me”—“You were the first to encircle me,” as if the Earth, a recent virgin, sighed over her first lover.3


The globe emblem was the biggest compliment. Its presence on Elcano’s arms compared him to the monarchs and holy figures who held orbs to indicate their divine authority over the world, or even to images of Christ holding a globe as Salvator Mundi, saviour of the world. Elcano was the first non-royal (and non-divine) person to use a globe to designate a similar authority in secular terms, based on his having circled the world.4


Charles V was not done with Elcano, however. He ordered a fleet to check on the men stranded on Tidore, via the strait Magellan had discovered, in an expedition commanded by García Jofre de Loaysa (or Loaísa), with Elcano as second in command and chief pilot. This time, the crew was huge (about 450), Portuguese were banned from it, and the fleet of four ships was better provisoned, at least at the start. The ships departed in July 1525 and headed for the strait, where bad weather wrecked one vessel (and its precious bread) and killed nine men. The ocean that had been “Pacific” for Magellan threw up storms that scattered the three remaining ships. The flagship leaked so badly that the men were exhausted by constant work at the pumps. Supplies of fish and seal meat taken in the Atlantic were inadequate to feed the crew, swelled by men from the wreck. “Each day we expected the end to come,” wrote Andrés de Urdaneta, chronicler of the misery. Among the officers, there was a jumble of deaths and successions. In July 1526, Loaysa died. Elcano succeeded him for six days, then died himself. His possessions included a small globe.5


At least this expedition’s leaders, unlike Magellan, knew where to find relief. At the Ladrones and the Philippines, they bought food and recruited new crewmen. Even so, between the strait and the Moluccas, they lost forty men. And there was no welcoming party on Tidore—the post was abandoned. When the Portuguese came to question their intentions, the Spaniards declared the Spice Islands to be on the Spanish side of the 1494 raya or line of demarcation. That set off an unpleasant little war, all the more desperate because the Spaniards had no idea whether they could ever get home.6


Neither had the Spanish whom Elcano had left on Tidore. The leaking Trinidad had been repaired, and in April 1522, her captain, Espinosa, leaving a handful of men to guard the trading house, had gone east, hoping to reach Spanish America via the Isthmus of Panama. It was a desperate scheme, but Espinosa worried that the Victoria, sailing ahead of him, might put Portuguese vessels in the Indian and Atlantic oceans on their guard. The Pacific seemed safer.


If that ocean had been difficult to cross westward, its eastward passage seemed impossible. Mariners knew that oceans had wheels of wind at their edges that could cut sailing time. Espinosa toiled up to 43 degrees, parallel to northern Japan, but failed to find any eastward wind. His men shivered and starved. After battling a twelve-day storm, he turned back and, losing a man every three days (the journey killed over half of them), he returned to the Moluccas, and the waiting Portuguese. They had already destroyed the Spanish outpost on Tidore and imprisoned its guards. They seized Espinosa and his men and beheaded Lorosa, the Portuguese man who had aided and abetted the trespassers. The Portuguese commander shrank at executing the Spaniards, however, confiding to João III that he simply “detained them in the Moluccas because it is an unhealthy place, to see if the climate would kill them.” Reduced to slavery in various parts of Asia, the men steadily perished until five beaten-down warnings, including Espinosa, were finally sent home.7


The world’s known supply of round-the-world travelers now numbered thirty-nine, less than 13 percent of Magellan’s original crew. Even compared to other sea voyages over unknown routes, the 86 percent mortality rate on the Magellan/Elcano expedition was terrible. Fewer people had been lost on da Gama’s first voyage to India (about 50 percent died) and on Columbus’s first voyage to America (about 44 percent were left behind on Hispaniola). The casualty rate on a world-round voyage did not resemble what occurred on other expeditions; it was more like battle, another reason it may have seemed so intrinsic to the global politics of empire.


João III and Charles V arranged several diplomatic meetings to debate their competing imperial claims, which were, for the first time, designed to fit a round Earth with better-known dimensions. The Spanish used the Magellan/Elcano expedition to claim that the Treaty of Tordesillas did not divide a flat map by a line running pole to pole, but instead segmented a globe through its poles, all the better to claim their half.


As the negotiations ground on, Charles V carefully monitored initial accounts of the Magellan/Elcano expedition, lest they weaken his claim to the Moluccas. Maximilian of Transylvania, a secretary at the Spanish court, had been given privileged access to Elcano and two others from the Victoria. He distilled their testimony into a long letter to his father in October 1522, first published in Rome in November 1523, then reprinted several times.8


The letter’s main point was that an around-the-world voyage was modern, entirely different from anything accomplished by the ancient Greeks and Romans, whose heroics (mythical or real) had once defined for Europeans the peak of human achievement. Maximilian declared that the Victoria was much worthier “of being placed among the stars than [Jason’s] old Argo; for that only sailed from Greece through Pontus, but ours from Hispalis to the south; and after that, through the whole west and the southern hemisphere, penetrating into the east, and again returned to the west.” That the vessel barely survived only made it more marvelous.9


Charles V next commissioned a history of the expedition from Peter Martyr, an Italian humanist who, settled at the Spanish court, wrote official histories of Spain’s overseas expansion. Martyr interviewed the survivors, drafted what was said to be a full account, and sent it to Rome to be printed. But Charles V’s complicated ambitions guaranteed its doom. His imperial troops invaded and sacked Rome in 1527, and the manuscript that extolled his nation’s amazing around-the-world expedition vanished. It was a coincidence to deter any author. Martyr abandoned the project and his manuscript has never resurfaced.10


Tension between Spain and Portugal also conditioned the cartographic information that was made public. Each nation appointed a board of nine specialists who presented competing evidence for the two nations’ geographic claims. No original maps survive from the Magellan/Elcano expedition, but at least one chart must have made it back, from which new maps of the world were prepared. The first were frauds, several of them executed by Diego Ribero, a Portuguese cartographer in Spanish employ who had made charts for Magellan. Ribero was ordered to make new maps to support Spain’s case against Portugal for the negotiations of 1524 and 1526. The results invariably placed the Moluccas on Spain’s side of the line of demarcation.11


It was all guesswork, anyway. Without a good way to determine longitude at sea, east-west distances were easy to manipulate. It seemed unlikely, however, that the Spice Islands lay closer to Spanish America than to Portuguese India. Charles V abandoned (for the moment) the idea of an Indian Ocean empire and sought instead to expand his new world empire into the Pacific, over the islands that Magellan had died trying to secure for him.


In 1529, at a final meeting in Zaragoza on their shared border, Spain and Portugal agreed to a treaty that drew yet another human-imagined line over the world. Even at that late date, the compliant Ribero prepared maps with the Spice Islands on Spain’s side of the world; on one, two ships have the notation voy amaluco, or (roughly), “Moluccas or bust!” But Charles V backed down. The treaty drew a line 17 degrees east of the Moluccas, a presumed anti-meridian, a circumpolar mirror of the Treaty of Tordesilla’s line through the Atlantic. João III paid Charles V 350,000 ducats (probably over 400 times the value of any one of Magellan’s ships) to relinquish any claim to the Moluccas while promising to honor Spain’s claim to the Philippines. He made a bad bargain: the Atlantic meridian, if extended through the poles, would have given Portugal not only the Moluccas but also the Philippines. The line’s imprecision mattered less than its global pretensions: it was the first civil boundary drawn around the whole Earth, a breathtaking imperial claim to the world, premised on the ability to go around it.12


By 1532, news of Spain’s concession reached the stranded Spaniards holding out in the Moluccas. The Portuguese had burned their ship, they were prisoners on Gilolo, where the rajah had tired of feeding them. Barefoot, ragged, they survived by hunting wild pigs. Steady attrition meant that only twenty-eight men remained. They surrendered to the Portuguese, who took them to Lisbon. The survivors had gone around the world, but not their ship. The 6 percent survival rate of the men (not quite half that of the Magellan/Elcano expedition) and the zero percent survival rate of the ships (even worse) reinforced suspicions that to try to go around the world was, but for a lucky few, a roundabout and expensive way to commit suicide.13


Even before the Treaty of Zaragoza, news about the Magellan/Elcano expedition had been spreading. The first uncensored world map to reflect the expedition’s discoveries was done around 1525, perhaps in Nuremberg. The map consisted of twelve woodcut-printed paper gores that could be mounted on a globe. The expanse of the Pacific Ocean, broken only by the Unfortunate Isles, is especially striking. The cartographer assumed that a large southern landmass (Magellanica, or Terra Australis) had to offset all that water, a possibility that voyagers and mapmakers would continue to debate. The maker also drew the line of demarcation all around the world. And note how he has invented a new device, the circumnavigator’s track, a dark line tracing the expedition’s route, embellished in two places with a little ship. That line around the world was the first graphic representation of a global human activity: the world or bust! (See illustration 3.)14


With a pious sense of mischief, Hans Holbein inserted one of these globes into his painting called The Ambassadors (1533), now in London’s National Gallery. In this allegorical double portrait, two French ambassadors pose against a high table laden with objects of learning, including the globe on the shelf below. Do the learned objects celebrate human ingenuity and knowledge? Probably not. At the bottom of the painting looms a distorted human skull, the classic warning against vanitas: remember you will die, and regard any worldly thing accordingly. A half-concealed crucifix at top left promises eternal salvation, and the globe is positioned with Rome at its center, just as the Catholic Church had been the center of Christian Europe for centuries.


That was intentionally ironic. Two years before Magellan had departed, Martin Luther had publicized his Ninety-Five Theses at All Saints’ Church in Wittenberg, Saxony, demanding extensive reforms of the Catholic Church at Rome. Earlier calls for religious reform had faded, but Luther’s set off a Reformation that divided Europe between Protestants and Catholics. Just when the Magellan/Elcano expedition had made spreading the Christian gospel around the world into a tangible goal, the Reformation divided Christendom against itself. On the globe within Holbein’s painting, the line of demarcation, scored in red across the Atlantic, may be prominently featured in order to lament human divisions of the world, however they come about.15


Narratives of the expedition were more confident. Charles V had already bought the rights to Elcano’s story, only to bury it. The way was open to Pigafetta, less beholden to the king, and eager to use his precious diary and other souvenirs to his own advantage. It tells us something about his survival skills that he courted multiple patrons. From Seville, he headed to the royal court at Valladolid, where he presented Charles V with “not gold or silver, but something to be prized by such a lord,” meaning “a book written by my hand treating of all the things that had occurred” on the expedition. Next stop Portugal, where Pigafetta told João III “of the things which I had seen.” Then to France, where he gave the queen regent “some things from the other hemisphere.”16


To flatter these and other worthies, Pigafetta commissioned at least four handwritten copies of his diary. (Others may not have survived, including the copy given to Charles V.) All four are dedicated to the Grand Master of Pigafetta’s religious order. One is in Pigafetta’s native Venetian and the others are in French. Two were done simply on paper and two more elaborately on vellum, thin polished sheets of leather. The latter are elegantly written, illuminated, and gilded. One of them is especially grand, on finest white vellum, with maps that glow like jewels within their gold borders. These de luxe editions were unique art objects, possessions of the powerful. It is not impossible that other people read them—one of the paper copies is quite worn. And maybe the owners of the fancy versions on vellum liked to show them off. The illustrated versions, for example, could be appreciated even by the illiterate.17


But print could get out some kinds of news even better. The relatively novel technology of print produced books faster than toiling scribes could, and it used cheaper materials: soot boiled with oil to make ink; rags chopped and fermented into paper. Printed books could now make their way to more readers and places, and that would be how most people learned of Magellan’s ordeal.18


When Pigafetta returned to Venice, he announced himself as a “Venetian Knight of Jerusalem,” who had “encompassed [circumdato] the whole world,” one of the world’s most exclusive self-descriptions. On that basis, he petitioned for a copyright to enjoy profits from his printed “narration” for the next twenty years. But for some reason, his full story did not appear in his lifetime. (He probably died in the mid-1530s.) A fragment of his account was published in France sometime between 1526 and 1536. It might have left little trace had not an Italian man of letters, Giovanni Battista Ramusio, read, translated, and republished it, along with Maximilian’s letter, in a 1550 collection of travel writings.19


That edition had legs. It was reprinted several times. Richard Eden translated it into English and published it in London, in 1555, within his collection of travel accounts. Ramusio and Eden were not mass reading, but along with Maximilian’s published letter, they opened new worlds to readers of the high and middling ranks. William Shakespeare, for instance, liked the sound of the Tehuelche word Setebos, for the Patagonian deity, and gave it to the god that Caliban worships in The Tempest. Birds of Paradise flit about European accounts of distant parts of the world, having been mentioned, evidently for the first time in European literature, in Maximilian’s report. Canoes begin to float through English accounts, courtesy of Eden. And on European ships everywhere, sailors adopted what they called, in variant spellings, hammocks—body-slings modeled on the amaches that Pigafetta had first described in Brazil, and so much nicer it was to snooze swaying in one of those than on any of the hard, wet, and sliding surfaces that mariners had endured for millennia.20


Above all, Ramusio seconded Maximilian’s suggestion that round-the-world travel was modern: “The voyage made by the Spaniards round the world in the space of three years is one of the greatest and most marvelous things which have been heard of in our times; and, although in many things we surpass the ancients, yet this expedition far excels every other that has been made up till now.” It was exciting to be modern, if only as a reader. And to see the world represented on pages recycled from soot and rags was much less expensive (not to mention safer) than actually sailing around the world in a wooden world—had even 5 percent of Europeans tried to do that, there wouldn’t have been a tree left in Europe.21


If an around-the-world voyage was modern, it followed that only a modern genre, the prose narrative in a vernacular language, could tell its full story. Although that plain, just-the-facts format now seems to us the logical and inevitable one, it was a deliberate choice and at first excluded other options, notably the ballad and the epic poem.


Timing was everything. By the early 1500s, Spanish ballads had largely ceased to relate current events, as they once had done. If ballads were sung of Magellan or Elcano, they have vanished.22 Nor were the world encompassers featured in an epic poem, the genre made famous by Homer and Virgil. However suitable for the mythic characters who wandered the Mediterranean, the epic evidently seemed an awkward choice for round-the-world travelers. The Renaissance explorers who commanded shorter voyages were comparable to the ancients (Columbus was a new Jason, da Gama was like Odysseus, and so on), but those who went around the world were not, as Maximilian and Ramusio had noted.23


The only epic to mention Magellan did so to denounce him. In The Lusíads (1572), Luís Vaz de Camões celebrates not Magellan but da Gama, reminding his primary reader, the king of Portugal, that da Gama had helped give him an empire on which the Sun barely sets:


You, mighty King, on whose India


The new-born sun directs his first beam,


Shines on your palace in mid-hemisphere,


And casts his last ray on the Brazils.


Yet the reader is later reminded to


. . . glance westwards


To observe the exploit of a Portuguese


Who, believing himself snubbed by his king,


Made another voyage beyond imagining


and gave to Spain the rest of the Sun-caressed planet.24


There was Magellan’s epic moment, dispatched in a sideways glance. Only one other epic poet even considered him. In his Jerusalem Liberated (1581), the Italian author Torquato Tasso wrote of the first crusade and other episodes of Christian heroism, and, after reading Ramusio, drafted an episode that followed Magellan’s passage into the Pacific. But Tasso scuttled that section in favor of a more conventional celebration of Columbus. For the first around-the-world travelers, there would be no ballads, no epics. Their glory was too distinctive.25


Moreover, round-the-world voyages were not, compared to other explorations, so firmly connected to specific nations or empires. Columbus “discovered” America for Spain; da Gama opened direct trade to India for Portugal. But if the Magellan/Elcano expedition went to the Moluccas for Spain, it went around the world for its own reasons. The motto on Elcano’s augmented coat of arms had already made that point. And, as Ramusio said of Pigafetta, he “has circumnavigated [encompassed] the whole globe,” for which “the ancients would have erected a statue of marble to him . . . as a memorial and example to posterity of his great worth”—no mention of Spain. It would be difficult for Spain’s ambitious monarchs to reclaim the deed for themselves, though they would try.26


It seems fitting that news of the first around-the-world journey had an international audience. A letter in Malay from Ternate had informed the king of Portugal of the Spanish ships’ arrival there, with news that the one which remained (Espinosa’s) awaited twenty more from Spain. Rulers in Turkey were also interested in European expansion, and made sure to get copies of European world maps as well as globes. A locally made map of 1559 included extracts from Ramusio. And somehow, a European map with a polar projection, possibly based on the one Magellan had used to win over the king of Spain, ended up at Topkapi Palace in Istanbul. Charles V had been right to worry that strategic information about his nation’s historic expedition would steadily leak out to the rest of the world.27


•   •   •


If imperialism gave world-round travel one original meaning, the element of time travel was equally arresting. Travelers had always changed their place, but only around-the-world travelers also changed time, in the mind-boggling Circumnavigator’s Paradox. Although some Christian and Jewish philosophers in the Middle Ages had hypothesized that a person would gain or lose a day by encompassing the world, the phenomenon had never been widely discussed, let alone explained. One scholar suggested that to circle the globe was to race the Sun, and lose. Magellan’s men had sailed west with the Sun, yet always lost time, each of their days longer than it would have been on land, extra minutes that added up to twenty-four hours. That discovery was another modern triumph. According to Ramusio: “the ancients never had such a knowledge of the world, which the sun goes round and examines every twenty-four hours, as we have at present, through the industry of the men of these our times.”28


The idea that humans could race the Sun made them into cosmic entities, Phaetons who did not crash and burn. But were they, really?


In his book On the Revolutions (1543), Nicholaus Copernicus questioned whether the Earth was the unmoving center of the universe. His observations indicated that it rotated on its axis and circled the Sun—it was just another planet. It is a myth that Copernicus’s book was either too arcane for general discussion or universally rejected as heresy. His revolutionary ideas had immediate impact, which means that at least some people who read Ramusio (published 1550) would have rolled their eyes at its outdated geocentric worldview. Some of Copernicus’s background points about the Earth, however, were also out of date, showing that he had not read any of the accounts of the Magellan/Elcano expedition. Copernicus mocked the notion “that the [Earth’s] entire body of water is ten times greater than all the land,” for instance, and argued for the opposite case, citing cartographers who had pushed Asia farther east than the ancients had believed it to extend. The new Spanish and Portuguese discoveries, “especially America,” had added even more land to the world. 29


Obviously, Copernicus’s knowledge of the terrestrial globe had climaxed with Vespucci and Waldseemüller. His book was both ahead of and behind the times. And because the Circumnavigator’s Paradox would continue to be explained in a pre-Copernican fashion, as a race with the Sun, it too would be both an entirely new experience, yet understood in outdated terms, perhaps to blunt the shock of the new. In an engraving published in 1594, Magellan passes through the strait that would bear his name. He is guided by Apollo, the Sun god, as if the deity were acknowledging that, in his daily transit around the globe, he now had human companions.30


•   •   •


A world encompassed was a gift fit for a prince. Or so Charles V thought when, in the early 1540s, he gave a gorgeous atlas to his heir, Philip. The royal present came from the Venetian workshop of Battista Agnese. This unique edition on vellum, with illumination and gilding done to order, shows in quick succession three images of the world, indications that the globe, post-Magellan, was becoming a commonly represented object. On a special presentation page, Charles V presides in classical Roman dress as a new Caesar. Below him, Philip also wears Roman garb, but reaches heavenward for something no Caesar ever ruled: the whole globe, which God hands down to him. The next page offers a pre-Copernican view of that globe encircled by the Moon, Sun, planets, and signs of the zodiac. The first map in the atlas is an oval image of a world dominated by Spain, with the Americas at the center. A circumnavigator’s track marks Magellan’s route. The map somewhat disguises the breadth of the Pacific Ocean by pushing it far left, though it is big enough to emphasize Magellan’s pluck, and the strait he had followed to the Pacific bears his name, as his crew had suggested it should.31


A second ship’s track streaks from Spain through the Caribbean, over the Isthmus of Panama, and down Peru, marking yet another of Charles V’s glorious acquisitions. After Francisco Pizarro had conquered the Inca empire in the Peruvian Andes in the 1530s, other Spanish explorers followed every clue to pinpoint the source of the region’s abundant silver. They found it in present-day Bolivia: an entire mountain of silver at a place called Potosí. The Spanish surrounded the mountain with a mining town and Indian workers extracted tons of silver a year. Teams of mules and llamas toted the metal down to the sea where treasure fleets transferred much of it to Spain, whose glittering wealth made other Europeans dangerously envious.


Silver traced the extent of Spain’s empire, not quite all around the world, but more than halfway. Magellan’s stubborn invasion of the Philippines—named for Prince Philip in 1544—had given Spain its back door to the Indies. American silver would keep the door open, a constant threat to Portugal’s interests there, whatever the terms of the Treaty of Zaragoza.


An expedition of 1565 established the first Spanish settlement in the Philippines. But would Spaniards have to keep making full circuits of the globe to maintain this territory? That would be tedious. The commander of the 1565 venture ordered Andrés de Urdaneta (chronicler and survivor of the Loaysa expedition) to find an eastern route across the Pacific. Urdaneta sailed north up to 36 degrees, where the eastward winds that Espinosa had failed to find wheeled him over and down to Acapulco, though at the cost of fourteen men. On arrival, the shattered survivors could barely lower the anchor.32


Urdaneta’s route became the means by which Spain linked together its rich global holdings, and Spain had no reason to contemplate another official circumnavigation for over two hundred years. At least once a year, a galleon made the 8,000-mile run between Manila and Acapulco, the longest active ocean crossing in the world at the time, and then went back. The Atlantic and Pacific now carried a busy traffic in Spanish officials, documents, settlers, and materials. Colonies spread over Central America, down the west coast of South America, and across the Philippines. Maps sprouted Spanish settlements in places unknown to Europeans a decade earlier. All those places produced something—wool, wine, lumber, grain—but above all silver. The Atlantic silver fleets were heavily guarded, but their sailing times and routes were public knowledge. And the silver that crossed the Pacific was unguarded. The Spanish considered “their” ocean a Spanish Lake closed to outsiders. Their silver-filled ships were perfect targets for pirates, including a very bold English pirate, Francis Drake, who completed history’s second successful around-the-world expedition as a global round of plunder.


•   •   •


Unlike Magellan or Elcano, Drake was painted from life several times and described by many people. Handsome, he was nevertheless on the short side; a lively conversationalist, he diluted his charm with constant bragging. A small nobody from nowhere, he thought he had to remind people that he mattered. He came from a poor family in southwest England, an extended maritime clan that launched him as a sailor—and whatever else was said about him, everyone agreed that Drake was a fantastic mariner. His nation barely figured on the global stage, but the English had ambitions. Just as the Spanish and Portuguese had once craved Italian lucre, so the English now snapped at Spanish heels.33
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